IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLENE M. BIFULCO

CASE NO: SC09-172 DCA CASE NO.: 5D08-98

Petitioner,

v.

PATIENT BUSINESS & FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FREDERICK C. MORELLO, P.A. Frederick C. Morello, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 0714933 Michael G. Howard, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 0636541 111 N. Frederick Ave., 2nd Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (386) 252-0754 Fax (386) 252-0921 Attorneys for Petitioner

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Factual History of the Case.

Petitioner and Appellant/Plaintiff below, CHARLENE M. BIFULCO ("Ms. BIFULCO"), began working part time for the Respondent and Appellee/Defendant below, PATIENT BUSINESS & FINANCIAL SERVICES ("PBFS") on or about July 29, 2002 as an admitting registrar. (Vol. II, p. 317, ¶ 5). Ms. BIFULCO became a full time admitting registrar on or about January 23, 2003. *Id*.

On or about March 24, 2004, Linda Rogers ("Ms. Rogers"), another admitting registrar at PBFS, told Ms. BIFULCO that the manager of PBFS, Mr. Will Benham ("Mr. Benham"), had ordered Ms. Rogers to sign a physician's name to a Physician's Interim/Telephone Order ("Physician's Telephone Order") for a prescription for ativan, also known as, lorazepam. *Id.* at ¶ 6. According to 21 C.F.R. § 1308.14, lorazepam (ativan) is a schedule IV controlled substance. *Id.* Mr. Benham's ordering Ms. Rogers to sign a telephone script was in violation of 21 C.F.R. § 1306.21. *Id.* at 317-318, ¶ 6. A copy of this forged prescription is found in Ms. BIFULCO's Response to Defendant's Motion for Final Summary Judgment. (Vol. II, p. 343, Plaintiff's Composite Exhibit D; Vol. IV, p. 561, Plaintiff's Composite Exhibit D). Ms. BIFULCO then told Ms. Rogers to document what had occurred regarding the taking of the prescription phone order. *Id.* at 318, \P 6. The name Ms. Rogers signed on this Physician's Telephone Order was for physician Dr. "Alhambra." *Id.* Ms. BIFULCO testified in her deposition that about one week to ten days after this event occurred, she complained to admitting supervisor, Ms. Robson, about the action of Mr. Benham.¹ *Id.*

On or about Monday, April 19, 2004, approximately 10:00 p.m., Ms. BIFULCO injured her back when restocking the admitting office. *Id.* at ¶ 7. Ms. BIFULCO picked up a full carton of paper from a pallet and just when she was picking up the box, she felt a sharp burning pain in her lower back and dropped the box. *Id.* On or about Monday, April 19, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO filled out an employee incident report documenting the injury for her employer. *Id.* On or about April 20, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO notified her supervisor, Ms. Robson, of her injury by putting a copy of the injury report under Ms. Robson's door. *Id.* Ms. BIFULCO worked the second shift and Ms. Robson worked the first shift. *Id.*

¹ While Ms. Robson was Ms. BIFULCO's direct supervisor, Mr. Benham was Ms. Robson's superior. (Vol. 1, p. 106 # 9). Mr. Benham was second in command at PBFS and Mr. Arvin Lewis was first in command. (Vol. IV, p. 600, l. 21 to p. 601, l. 3).

On or about Wednesday, April 21, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO left a message for Terry Martin ("Ms. Martin"), workers' comp program supervisor, that she needed to see a doctor as quickly as possible. *Id.* On or about Thursday, April 22, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO was able to talk with Ms. Martin's assistant about seeing a doctor for her workers' comp injury. *Id.*

Late in the afternoon on April 22, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO was called into her supervisor, Ms Robson's office. *Id.* Ms. BIFULCO received a corrective action counseling memo from Ms. Robson for having a negative attitude and being rude to patients. *Id.* Ms. Robson would not identify any of the people purportedly complaining about Ms. BIFULCO's alleged attitude. *Id.*

On or about Monday, April 26, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO met with Human Relations Employee Advocate, Carol Raymond ("Ms. Raymond"), in person, to, among other things, object to the actions of Mr. Benham on March 26, 2004, ordering Ms. Rodgers to sign Dr. Alhambra's name to a Physician's Telephone Order. *Id.* Ms. BIFULCO showed Ms. Raymond, among other documents, the Physician's Interim/Telephone Order that Mr. Benham ordered Ms. Rogers to forge. (Vol. II, p. 318, ¶ 8; Vol. IV, p. 561). Ms. Raymond read the paperwork Ms. BIFULCO put in front of her and without more, told her to see a "newly hired, African-American lady in the Human Resources Department". (Vol. II, p. 318, ¶

8). Ms. Raymond did not identify the person that Ms. BIFULCO was to see with any more detail than that. *Id.* at 318-319, \P 8. Ms. BIFULCO was objecting to the forgery of the script for Ativan Ms. Rogers was told to write which amounted to a violation of a law, rule or regulation. *Id.*

On or about Tuesday, April 27, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO further voiced her objection to PBFS's taking of this Physician's Telephone Order to Chief Human Resources Officer Al Alexander ("Mr. Alexander"), Director Patient Business & Financial Services, Arvin Lewis ("Mr. Lewis") and Halifax Medical Center Administrator, Dan Lang ("Mr. Lang"), by faxing documentation of everything that Ms. BIFULCO had previously shown Ms. Raymond, to them. *Id.* This documentation included the script that Ms. Rogers was ordered to write. *Id.* Ms. BIFULCO was objecting to the violation of a law, rule or regulation that was an activity, policy or practice of her employer when she faxed her concern to Mr. Alexander, Mr. Lewis and Mr. Lang. *Id.*

On or about Thursday, April 29, 2004, Mr. Benham and Ms. Robson approached Linda Hill ("Ms. Hill"), Employee Relations Supervisor, about alleged threats that Ms. BIFULCO was alleged to have made, which were not made in the presence of either Mr. Benham or Ms. Robson. *Id.* On or about April 30, 2004, Ms. Hill called Ms. BIFULCO and placed her on paid administrative leave approximately one and one half hours prior to Ms. BIFULCO reporting for work. (Vol. I, p. 87-88, ¶ 18; Vol. II, p. 319, ¶ 8). All that Ms. Hill told Ms. BIFULCO during this phone call was that she was placing Ms. BIFULCO on paid administrative leave with Mr. Benham's approval but did not provide any other reason or explanation. (Vol. II, p. 319, ¶ 8).

On or about Friday, April 30, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO was finally seen by a physician for her workers' comp injury that occurred on April 19, 2004, and was diagnosed with a back injury. (Vol. II, p. 319, ¶ 9). On or about May 3, 2004, around 4:00 p.m., Ms. Hill called Ms. BIFULCO and while using a speaker phone told Ms. BIFULCO that Ms. BIFULCO's complaint letter was part of an ongoing investigation against her and that she was terminated because of purported threats Ms. BIFULCO made against PBFS employees. (Vol. I, p. 88, ¶20; Vol. II, pp. 319-320, ¶ 9). On or about May 24, 2004, Ms. BIFULCO received a COBRA letter from Halifax Community Health System stating that her group vision plan was ended on April 28, 2004 because of her termination of employment. (Vol. I, p. 88, ¶22; Vol. II, p. 320, ¶ 10).

B. Procedural History of the Case

On or about December, 10, 2004, Petitioner's counsel sent a privileged letter to David J. Davidson, Esq. ("Mr. Davidson"), Corporate Counsel for PBFS and Halifax Hospital Medical Center ("Halifax Hospital"),² regarding, among other things, Ms. BIFULCO claims against PBFS for workers' comp retaliation and retaliation under the private Whistle blower Act ("PWA"). (Vol. IV, p. 660-61). Mr. Davidson, corporate counsel, responded on December 13, 2004, stating that he would investigate the allegations. On December 21, 2004, corporate counsel denied wrongdoing on the part of PBFS, Ms. BIFULCO's employer. (Vol. IV, p. 662). Corporate counsel completed his investigation and did not request any additional time to reach a conclusion nor did he raise any suggestion that the Petitioner's claim was not accepted as notice under Fla. Stat. § 768 for any claim against PBFS or Halifax Hospital.

Almost one year later, on November 18, 2005, Ms. BIFULCO, through her counsel, filed a two count complaint against PBFS. (Vol. I, pp. 85-91). Count I was for violation of the Florida Whistle-blower Act, Fla. Stat. § 448.102(3) (hereafter "PWA") and Count II was for Discharge of Employment by Reason of Violation of Fla. Stat. § 440.205. *Id*.

²

While the demand letter was sent to Halifax Medical Center, Mr. Davidson, Esq., was listed as the registered agent for PBFS. (Vol. IV, pp. 566-68; p. 660-61). Mr. Davidson responded using a letterhead from the Halifax Community Health System. (Vol. IV, p. 662). At the time the demand letter was sent to Mr. Davidson, it was unknown how PBFS, Halifax Medical Center, Halifax Community Health System, Halifax Home Health, etc., related to each other, if at all.

Discovery ensued and PBFS, on April 5, 2006, stated in its response to Petitioner's First Request for Admissions that PBFS was an employer as defined by Fla. Stat. § 448.101(3) of the PWA. (Vol. II, p. 223, \P 3). Additionally, PBFS admitted that Ms. BIFULCO was an employee as defined by Fla. Stat. § 448.101(2) of the PWA. (Vol. II, pp. 223-224, \P 4). In its Answer, or in discovery responses, PBFS never raised the affirmative defense of Fla. Stat. § 768.28 (6) claiming PBFS was a special taxing district established under the legislature, or that PBFS, as a creation of that special taxing district, would be subject to such notice. (Vol. II, pp.197-243).

On January 31, 2007, Ms. BIFULCO's counsel served a motion to amend the complaint to add punitive damages. (Vol. I, pp.105-166). On February 21, 2007, Respondent served its Memorandum of Law in Opposition which, once again, never argued that PBFS was subject to Fla. Stat. § 768.28 (6) notice. (Vol. I, pp. 170-175).

A hearing was held on Petitioner's motion to amend to add punitive damages. (Vol. II, p. 261, ¶ 4). On February 27, 2007, the trial court denied Petitioner's motion to add punitive damages without prejudice. (Vol. I, p. 178, ¶ 2). Subsequently, Respondent's Motion for Final Summary Judgment stated in part that, "On February 27, 2007, this Court denied BIFULCO's motion to amend finding that PBFS is a state agency pursuant to its relationship to Halifax Hospital Medical Center within the meaning of § 768.28, FLA. STAT. (2006), and directed PBFS to submit an affidavit of an officer of Halifax Hospital Medical Center specifying the relationship" (Vol. II, p. 261, ¶ 4). But that was not an accurate statement, as the Order from the Court stated only that, "Petitioner's Motion to Amend Her Complaint to Add Punitive Damages is denied without prejudice." (Vol. I, p. 178, ¶ 2).

As a result of the hearing on the motion to add punitive damages, on March 8, 2007, PBFS served notice of filing the affidavit of general counsel, Mr. Davidson, along with an affidavit and exhibits. (Vol. II, pp. 185-196). Mr. Davidson's affidavit, stated among other things, that PBFS was created and run by Halifax Hospital and that Halifax Hospital (not PBFS) was a special taxing district of the State. *Id.* at 185, ¶¶ 2, 3, 5. Specifically, corporate counsel Davidson attested,

I am General Counsel for Halifax Hospital Medical Center, which is an independent taxing district for the State of Florida, and all of Halifax Hospital Medical Center's affiliate corporations.

Respondent, Patient Business and Financial Services, Inc., was established by the Halifax Hospital Medical Center to assist it in carrying out its functions. Halifax Hospital Medical Center is the sole member of Patient Business and Financial Services, Inc. has complete control over the operations and management of Patient Business and Financial Services, Inc. (Vol. II, p. 185, $\P\P$ 2, 3, 5).

Without any supporting documentation, corporate counsel attested and concluded that the Internal Revenue Service had determined that PBFS was an "instrumentality of the state." *Id.* at 186, ¶ 9.

On March 28, 2007, Respondent filed an unopposed motion for continuation of the trial. (Vol. II, pp. 251-252). This motion stated, among other things, "Neither party will be prejudiced by the continuance of this matter." *Id.* at 251, ¶ 3. On April 4, 2007, the trial Court granted the trial continuance. (Vol. II, pp. 253-54). On April 17, 2007, a joint motion was filed to transfer the case from one division to another because it was determined that the newly appointed circuit court judge was related to a member of the Respondent's law firm which would have resulted in the recusal of the judge. This motion was approved and an order was issued on April 23, 2007. (Vol. II, p. 258).

About one (1) month after the trial continuance was granted, on May 17, 2007, Respondent filed its first motion for summary judgment ("1st MSJ"). (Vol. II, pp. 261-65). In Respondent's 1st MSJ, the argument was made that the Petitioner failed to comply with pre-suit notice under Fla. Stat. § 768.28 (6) to not

only Halifax Hospital, but to the Department of Financial Services as well. Id. p. 262, ¶ 5. Respondent further argued that the Petitioner could not comply with the notice to the Department of Financial Services because more than three (3) years had passed since the Petitioner's termination from PBFS on May 3, 2004. Id. at pp. 261-264, ¶¶ 2, 9, 14, 15. Respondent in its 1st MSJ did not address the discrepancy between Fla. Stat. § 768.28 (6) with its three year statute of limitations on notifying the Department of Finance and the four year statute of limitations provided by filing an action under Fla. Stat. § 440.205. See Scott v. Otis Elevator Co., 524 So. 2d 642, 643 (Fla. 1988) ("The legislature, however, enacted section 440.205 subsequent to Goehring, creating a distinct limited statutory cause of action for retaliatory discharge in the area of worker's compensation. Claims under section 440.205 must be brought within the four-year statute of limitations set forth in section 95.11(3)(f) for statutory causes of action.").

On October 1, 2007, the Petitioner replied to Respondent's 1st MSJ. (Vol. II, pp. 316-358). Petitioner raised the argument that not only were both Fla. Stat. § 440.205 and 448.101, *et seq.*, remedial, but that they were statutory creations in derogation of the common law, applying the same logic which this Honorable Court has consistently applied. *Id.* at 320-328.

A hearing was held on Respondent's 1st MSJ on October 4, 2007. (Vol. 1, pp.1-44). Petitioner's counsel brought up the fact that the Respondent had prejudiced the Petitioner by filing the continuance for trial thereby causing the three (3) year statute of limitations to pass when Respondent had represented to the Court that "neither party would be prejudiced by the continuance." *Id.* at p. 38, 1. 5-11. On October 16, 2007, the trial Court dismissed with prejudice Count II, the violation of Fla. Stat. § 440.205, of the Petitioner's Complaint because of failure to comply with pre-suit notice under Fla. Stat. § 768.28 (6). (Vol. III, pp. 532-535).

On October 11, 2007, the Respondent served its second motion for summary judgment ("2nd MSJ"). (Vol. II, pp. 359-361). The predominant premise of this 2nd MSJ was that PBFS was a creature of Halifax Hospital and therefore, was a special taxing district not subject to the PWA. *Id.* The Petitioner served her response to the 2nd MSJ on December 3, 2007. (Vol. IV, pp. 538-568). Petitioner's counsel argued in their response that PBFS met the statutory definition of an employer under the PWA and that the public Whistle-blower Act ("PUBWA") was not the exclusive remedy in all PUBWA actions, most particularly where an independent contractor as defined by PUBWA is involved. *Id.* at 542-547.

On December 4, 2007, the eve of the 2nd MSJ hearing, the Respondent moved to withdraw and amend its response to Petitioner's First Request for

Admissions, # 3. (Vol. IV, p. 581-584). In its responses to Petitioner's First Request for Admissions # 3, which were served upon the Respondent on or about April 5, 2006, the Respondent admitted that it was an "employer" as defined by Fla. Stat. § 448.101(3). *Id.* at p. 581, ¶ 1. The Respondent claimed that its answering admission # 3 was "in error". *Id.* at 581, ¶ 2. The trial court allowed PBFS to withdraw its answer to admission # 3. (Vol. IV, p. 677). No reason was contained within the trial court's Order as to why it allowed the Respondent to withdraw its previous admission # 3. (Vol. IV, p. 677).

On December 6, 2007, the trial court heard Respondent's 2nd MSJ. (Vol. IV, pp. 678-679). On December 13, 2007, the court dismissed Petitioner's PWA claim because the trial court declared that PBFS was a state agency and not a private employer. *Id.* The court stated, among other things,

On October 11, 2007, defendant filed a Motion for Final Summary Judgment based on the Plaintiff's failure to state a cause of action as to Count I under Florida's Private Whistle Blower Act. The Court found that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that because defendant is a state agency, it is not an "employer" as defined by Fla. Stat. 448.103(3) of Florida's Private Whistle Blower Act. Therefore, defendant's Motion for Final Summary Judgment as to as to (sic) Count I for a violation of Florida's Private Whistle Blower Act is hereby **GRANTED.** (Vol. IV, p. 678, ¶ 2).

This final order encompassed the dismissal of both Counts I and II. *Id.* at pp. 678-679. On January 2, 2009, the 5th DCA filed an opinion reversing the trial court's summary judgment order only on Petitioner's Fla. Stat. §440.205 claim but upholding the trial court's summary judgment on her Fla. Stat. § 448.102(3), PWA, claim.

II. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

We are now at the crossroads, post-*Maggio*, of whether Chapter 768.28(6) notice is required for a Fla. Stat. ¶ 440.205 discharge claim for wrongful termination by reason of filing a valid workers' compensation claim. The Fifth DCA's decision in Bifulco, that Chapter 768.28(6) notice is not required for a Fla. Stat. § 440.205 claim, is correct because the District Court's logic is entirely consistent with this Honorable Court's decisions in *Scott v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 524 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 1988), *Trianon Park Condo Ass'n, Inc. v. City of Hialeah*, 468 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1985) and *Maggio v. Fla. Dept. of Labor*, 899 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 2005) and the pre-*Maggio* decisions of *Kelly v. Jackson Co. Tax collector*, 745 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) and *Osten v. City of Homestead*, 757 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), should be disapproved.

Additionally, this Honorable Court should reverse the Fifth DCA in Bifulco where it upheld the decision of the trial court that the PUBWA was the exclusive remedy against PBFS, a billing company, and that the PWA could not be applied. PBFS best fits the description of an independent contractor under the PUBWA and should also be subject to a PWA claim. This Honorable Court should consider the reasoning in *Dahl v. Eckerd Family Youth Alternatives, Inc.*, 843 So. 2d 956, 958 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003) and find that, under the facts of Bifulco, the PWA is also a remedy for the Petitioner and PUBWA was not her exclusive remedy.

III. ARGUMENT AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court accepted jurisdiction under Fla. Const. Art. V, § (3)(b)(3) for conflict jurisdiction and under Fla. R. App. P. 9.120 by its Order dated July 7, 2009. Even though an issue is not a basis for conflict jurisdiction, once this Court grants conflict jurisdiction, it may address other issues properly raised and argued before the Court. See *State of Florida v. T. G.*, 800 So. 2d 204, 211 at fn. 4 (Fla. 2001) (citing *Savoie v. State*, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982) *Hall v. State of Florida et.al.*, 752 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 2000). The standard of review of an order of summary judgment is de novo review. See *Fayad v. Clarendon Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 899 So. 2d 1082, 1085 (Fla. 2005)(the standard of review for summary judgment is de novo)(citing *Volusia Co. v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.*, 760 So. 2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000)).

A. <u>The decision of Fifth District Court of Appeal in Bifulco should</u> be upheld in finding that §768.78(6) notice is not required for a claim brought pursuant to Fla. Stat. §440.205 because the Fifth District followed the analysis of this Court in *Trianon Park* and <u>Scott v. Otis Elevator</u>, after considering this Court's analysis in <u>Maggio to reach its holding.</u>

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