#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

# CASE NO. SCO9-172 DCA Case No. 5D08-98 Circuit Court Case No.: 2005-32018-CICI

\_\_\_\_\_

#### CHARLENE M. BIFULCO,

#### Petitioner,

v.

#### PATIENT BUSINESS & FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,

# Respondent.

#### ANSWER BRIEF FILED ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENT

# ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_\_\_\_\_

COBB COLE THOMAS J. LEEK Fla. Bar No. 0116408 KELLY V. PARSONS

Fla. Bar No. 0860611

150 Magnolia Avenue

Post Office Box 2491

Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2491

Telephone: (386) 323-9210 Facsimile: (386) 944-7954

{040445-001 : TLEEK/CDIAM : 00721747.DOC; 3}

# **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Bifulco's claim for workers' compensation retaliation under Fla. Stat. §440.205 is a tort within the meaning of section 768.28 and pre-suit notice is required. *Kelley v. Jackson County Tax Collector*, 745 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Fla. Stat. §768.28 requires a plaintiff to give notice of her claims in writing to the appropriate agency and the Department of Financial Services within three (3) years of the claim. Bifulco failed to allege compliance with, and otherwise failed to provide the requisite pre-suit notice to the Department of Financial Services. More than three (3) years had elapsed since the date of Bifulco's employment termination, and the accrual of both of her causes of action. As such, the trial court properly dismissed Bifulco's claim for workers' compensation retaliation and the appellate court's decision reversing the order should be reversed.

A claim can only be brought under the Private WBA against an "employer," which is defined as "any private individual, firm, partnership, institution, corporation, or association that employs ten or more persons." Fla. Stat. §448.101(3). PBFS was established by and is a wholly consumed subsidiary of Halifax Hospital, which is an independent taxing district for the State of Florida. As such, PBFS is an instrumentality of the state and government entity, not a private employer. PBFS consistently maintained its status as a government entity, except for an inadvertent

error in response to a request for admission, which was properly withdrawn. Because PBFS is a governmental entity and not a private employer, Bifulco failed to state a cause of action under the Private WBA and summary judgment was properly granted by the trial court in favor of PBFS and against Bifulco and the appellate court's decision should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. BIFULCO FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE PRE-SUIT NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF FLA. STAT. §768.28(6), THEREFORE, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED BIFULCO'S CLAIM FOR WORKERS' COMPENSATION RETALIATION UNDER FLA. STAT. §440.205.

The existing state of the law is clear: "An action for retaliatory discharge under Fla. Stat. §440.205 is clearly a tort within the meaning of Fla. Stat. §768.28 and presuit notice is therefore required." *Kelley v. Jackson County Tax Collector*, 745 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (citing *Scott v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 524 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1988) (holding that retaliatory discharge is tortious in nature)); *see also Osten v. City of Homestead*, 757 So.2d 1243, 1244 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (affirming the trial court's dismissal of the count for retaliatory discharge where no statutory notice of the claim was provided pursuant to Fla. Stat. §768.28).

Fla. Stat. §768.28(6) provides in pertinent part:

(a) An action may not be instituted on a claim against the state or one of its agencies or subdivisions unless the claimant presents the claim in writing to the appropriate agency, and also, ... presents such a claim in

writing to the Department of Financial Services, within three years after such claim accrues and the Department of Financial Services or the appropriate agency denies the claim in writing...

(b) For purposes of this section, the requirements of notice to the agency and denial of the claim pursuant to paragraph (a) are conditions precedent to maintaining an action but shall not be deemed to be elements of the cause of action ...

Fla. Stat. §768.28(6) requires written notice to the agency or subdivision and Department of Financial Services within three (3) years of the accrual of the claim before suit may be filed against any state agency. *Levine v. Dade County School Bd.*, 442 So.2d 210, 212 (Fla. 1983). In *Levine*, the District Court certified the following question to this Court:

May a plaintiff maintain an action to recover damages from a state agency or subdivision, pursuant to section 768.28(6), Florida Statutes (1977), if he notified the appropriate agency but failed to present a written notice of claim to the Department of Insurance, which has no interest or role in the proceedings other than to report claims to the legislature, and no prejudice resulted?

#### *Id.* at 212.

#### The Court ruled:

We are compelled to answer the question in the negative and approve the decision of the district court of appeal.

. . .

Section 768.28(6) clearly requires written notice to the department within three years of the accrual of the claim before suit may be filed against any state agency or subdivision except a municipality. Because this subsection is part of the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity, it must be strictly construed. [citations omitted]. In the face of such a

clear legislative requirement, it would be inappropriate for this Court to give relief to the petitioner based on his or her own beliefs about the intended function of the Department of Insurance in the defense of suits against school districts. Our views about the wisdom or propriety of the notice requirement are irrelevant because the requirement is so clearly set forth in the statute. [citations omitted].

*Id.* at 212-213. "Where the time for such notice has expired so that it is apparent that the plaintiff cannot fulfill the requirement, the trial court has no alternative but to dismiss the complaint with prejudice." *Id.* at 213.

Several years later, this Court again found that the failure to give pre-suit notice is fatal. In *Menendez v. North Broward Hospital District*, 537 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1988), the plaintiff brought a tort action against a hospital, but failed to plead and prove that the plaintiff complied with the pre-suit notice requirements of Fla. Stat. §768.28(6) (1977). *Id.* at 90. The hospital moved to dismiss with prejudice four (4) years later asserting that the plaintiff failed to state a cause of action; namely the plaintiff failed to plead the requisite pre-suit notice and could not cure the defect. *Id.* The plaintiff asserted that the hospital, by its actions, waived the notice requirement as to the hospital and the Department and was estopped from raising notice as a defense. *Id.* The Department was not a party to the case and did not appear in the case. *Id.* at 91.

In *Menendez*, the District Court certified the following question to this Court:

In a tort action brought against a governmental agency where the Department of Insurance is not made a party, can the statutory requirement of notice to the Department contained in Section 768.28(6) be waived by conduct of the defending agency?

Id.

Affirming the order dismissing the plaintiff's case with prejudice, the Court in *Menendez* held:

This Court has thus determined that absent an allegation of departmental notice, the complaint fails to state a cause of action. ... [N]otice to the Department is an essential element of the cause of action. As such, the right to raise this defense is controlled by Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.140(h)(2) [relating to the defense of failure to state a cause of action; reciting rule in its entirety]. Under our ruling in *Levine* and the facts presented here, the hospital raised a viable and timely defense which could be asserted by motion any time prior to or at the trial on the merits.

Id.

Bifulco failed to plead and comply with the pre-suit notice requirements of Fla. Stat. §768.28. Specifically, Bifulco failed to allege compliance with, and otherwise failed to provide the requisite pre-suit notice to the Department of Financial Services. Such notice is a condition precedent to maintaining the action against PBFS. *Levine*, 442 So.2d at 211-212; *see also* Fla. Stat. §768.28(6). At the time of hearing on summary judgment, more than three (3) years had elapsed since the date of Bifulco's employment termination, and the accrual of both of her causes of action. Therefore, the time for Bifulco to give such notice had lapsed so that it was apparent that she

cannot fulfill the requirement. Thus, the lower court properly dismissed Bifulco's claim for workers' compensation retaliation with prejudice.

Bifulco's reliance on *Florida Dep't of Education v. Garrison*, 954 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007) is misguided, because *Garrison* held that Fla. Stat. §768.28(6) has no application to a claim under Florida's *Public* Whistle Blower's Act ("Public WBA"), *emphasis added*. In the context of the Public WBA, *Garrison* analyzed the Florida Supreme Court's opinion in *Maggio v. Fla. Dep't of Labor and Employment Sec.*, 899 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 2005), which held that the pre-suit notice requirements of Fla. Stat. §768.28(6) have no application to a cause of action under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 ("FCRA").

The *Maggio* and *Garrison* decisions analyzed the legislative intent of the Public WBA and FCRA, respectively, assessing whether the statutes individually waived sovereign immunity, included pre-suit notice requirements, or expressly referenced Fla. Stat. §768.28. Both decisions specifically distinguished workers' compensation retaliation claims under Fla. Stat. §440.205.

### The *Maggio* Court stated:

[I]n contrast to the Florida Civil Rights Act, the retaliatory discharge provision of the Workers Compensation Law has no pre-suit notice requirements, no designated forum for adjudicating claims, no provision for the type of relief to which an aggrieved party is entitled, and no reference to any portion of section 768.28. See §440.205, Fla. Stat. (2003).

*Maggio*, 899 So. 2d at 1081. The Court concluded that the fact that pre-suit notice was required pursuant to Fla. Stat. §768.28 for a workers' compensation violation had no bearing on whether pre-suit notice was required under the Florida Civil Rights Act. *Id*.

#### The Garrison Court stated:

We likewise conclude that the Public-Whistle-blower's Act is distinguishable from section 440.205, and therefore the decisions construing section 440.205 are not persuasive in resolution of the issue addressed in this case.

*Garrison*, 954 So.2d at 87.

Bifulco also argued that if the legislature intended for Fla. Stat. §768.28 to apply to a workers' compensation retaliation claim, it would have included a reference to the statute. Bifulco then cited a number of Florida statutes that expressly referenced section 768.28. Bifulco's argument is without merit, and attempts to turn the *Maggio* Court's analysis on its head as the *Maggio* court found the lack of such a reference significant in finding that pre-suit notice was required under section 768.28; not the other way around as Bifulco suggests.

Fla. Stat. §440.205 does not reference section 768.28, therefore, the statutes cited by Bifulco are not relevant. Further, it is presumed that statutes are passed with the knowledge of existing statutes, so courts must favor a construction that gives effect

to both statutes rather than construe one statute as being meaningless or repealed by implication. *Butler v. State*, 838 So.2d 554 (Fla. 2003); *see also*, i.e., *State v. Langdon*, 978 So.2d 263 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (statutes must be read together to ascertain their meaning). "There first must be a hopeless inconsistency between the two statutes before rules of construction are applied to defeat the express language of one of those statutes." *Freeman v. State*, 969 So.2d 473 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007). In fact, it is improper to resort to the canons of statutory construction when the texts of different statutes are plain and unambiguous. *Freeman*, 969 So.2d 473.

Other Florida statutes that reference section 768.28 are not relevant to whether pre-suit notice is required for a workers' compensation retaliation claim. Fla. Stat. §768.28 and Fla. Stat. §440.205 are not disparate and do not require reconciliation, so they should be read together giving meaning to both. That is what the First District Court of Appeal did in *Kelley* and the Third District Court of Appeal did in *Osten*. Because Bifulco's claim for workers' compensation retaliation under Fla. Stat. §440.205 is a tort within the meaning of section 768.28, pre-suit notice is required. *Kelley*, 745 So.2d 1040; *Osten*, 757 So.2d at 1244. The trial court properly dismissed Bifulco's claim for workers' compensation retaliation and the appellate court's reversal should be reversed.

# II. PBFS DOES NOT QUALIFY AS AN "EMPLOYER" UNDER FLA. STAT. §448.101(3), THEREFORE, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED BIFULCO'S CLAIM UNDER THE PRIVATE WBA.

In the Initial Brief, Bifulco argued that the trial court erred in permitting PBFS to withdraw its answer to a request for admission admitting it was an "employer" as defined pursuant to Fla. Stat. §448.101(3). This decision is reviewed by an abuse of discretion standard. *See*, i.e., *Ramos v. Growing Together, Inc.*, 672 So.2d 103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting PBFS' motion to withdraw its request for admission.

Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.370(b) provides that the Court may allow a party to withdraw or amend a prior admission "when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved by it and the party who obtained the admission fails to satisfy the court that withdrawal or amendment will prejudice that party in maintaining an action or defense on the merits." (emphasis added).

The liberal standard favors amendment in order to allow disposition on the merits. *Melody Tours, Inc. v. Granville Mkt. Letter, Inc.*, 413 So.2d 450, 451 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); *Istache v. Pierre*, 876 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). The party opposing the withdrawal must prove that such withdrawal will prejudice it in maintaining an action on the merits. Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.970(b). Having to prepare for trial on the merits is not the type of prejudice which the plaintiff can raise to combat the

defendant's motion for withdrawal because preparing for a trial on the merits was the plaintiff's burden from the beginning. *Durrance v. Thompson*, 486 So.2d 711 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

Here, PBFS expressly and consistently maintained that it is a corporation affiliated with Halifax Hospital and under the "umbrella" of Halifax Hospital from the inception of the lawsuit to the present. In the complaint, PBFS denied the paragraph alleging it was an "employer" under Fla. Stat. §448.101(3), and further explained its affiliation with Halifax Hospital in the depositions of PBFS' Director on October 4, 2006 and of PBFS' General Counsel on July 10, 2007. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 590-593, 605, 659), (SR. Vol. II, pp. 724-733). Additionally, both PBFS and Bifulco's counsel in this matter routinely referred to defendant as "Halifax" throughout the depositions in this matter, and PBFS' non-expert witness list served January 26, 2007 predominantly listed the relevant witnesses as Halifax Hospital employees. (SR. Vol. II, pp. 734-737). Further, PBFS expressly asserted its status as a state agency as a defense to Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Her Complaint to Add Punitive Damages filed by Bifulco on January 31, 2007, which was denied because PBFS is an instrumentality of the state. (R. Vol. I, pp. 105-166).

On March 8, 2007, PBFS also filed the affidavit of David J. Davidson, General Counsel of Halifax Hospital, which was accepted by the Court. (R. Vol. I-II, pp. 183-

196). With this, it is undisputed that PBFS was established by and is a wholly consumed subsidiary of Halifax Hospital, which is an independent taxing district for the State of Florida. (R. Vol. II, p. 185). PBFS was established to assist Halifax Hospital in carrying out its functions, and specifically, PBFS operates as its billing arm, responsible for negotiating contracts, billing patients, patient registration, and case management, among other things. (R. Vol. II, p. 185). Halifax Hospital is PBFS' only client, has complete control over the operations and management of PBFS, and shares the same Board of Directors of PBFS. (R. Vol. II, pp. 185-186). Further, the Internal Revenue Service determined that PBFS is an instrumentality of the state. (R. Vol. II, pp. 186).

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